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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO

C.M. LECOMPTE, individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 1:16-cv-221

SANTA FE NATURAL TOBACCO COMPANY, INC.
and REYNOLDS AMERICAN, INC,,

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff C.M. LeCompte (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated (the “Class”), and by her undersigned counsel, hereby files her Class Action Complaint
asserting claims against Defendants Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. and Reynolds
American, Inc. (collectively, “Defendants™). For her Complaint, Plaintiff alleges, based upon her
own personal knowledge, the investigations of counsel, and upon information and belief, as
follows:

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

1. This class action challenges the deceptive sales practices of Defendants Santa Fe
Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. and Reynolds American, Inc. due to their conduct in marketing
and selling their “Natural American Spirit” brand cigarettes to Plaintiff (and the Class defined
below) as “Additive-Free Natural Tobacco.” Defendants’ Natural American Spirit cigarettes are
sold in several flavors, all of which are uniformly labeled and marketed as “Natural” and
“Additive-Free.” The terms “Natural” and “Additive-Free” Defendants use to describe their
products are false, deceptive, and misleading. Defendants use the terms to imply a safer
cigarette, allowing Defendants to charge consumers a premium and inflated price for the

cigarettes. Reasonable consumers faced with the choice between Defendants’ cigarettes and
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those with labels that do not bear these deceptive and misleading statements, would be led to
understand that Natural American Spirit cigarettes are in fact substantially healthier and cause
substantially less harm than other cigarettes. However, such an understanding would be
incorrect. As described more fully herein, Natural American Spirit cigarettes are not natural
(because they contain ammonia), and they are just as harmful as other cigarettes. Defendants’
marketing and labeling Natural American Spirit cigarettes in the manner they do, in order to
reap inflated prices and revenue, is therefore deceptive and misleading, resulting in injury and
financial loss to the Class.

2. This suit is brought pursuant to the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act,
Civil Code § 1750 et seq. (“CLRA”), the California Unfair Competition Law, Business &
Professions Code § 17200 et seq. (“UCL”), and under the common law theory of money had
and received / unjust enrichment, on behalf of a class of California consumers who purchased
Natural American Spirit cigarettes from March 22, 2012 to the present. This suit seeks, inter
alia, refunds, injunctive relief, restitution, attorneys’ fees, and the costs of this suit, as well as
all other relief available at law and equity under the causes of action alleged.

3. Plaintiff has complied with Civil Code § 1782(a) by notifying Defendants in
writing, by certified mail, on behalf of the class, of the violations alleged herein and demanded
that Defendants remedy those violations. If Defendants fail to rectify or agree to rectify the
problems detailed above and give notice to all affected consumers in the class defined herein
within 30 days of the date of written notice pursuant to California Civil Code § 1782, Plaintiff
will amend this Complaint to add claims for actual, punitive, and statutory damages pursuant to
the CLRA.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff C.M. LeCompte (“Plaintiff”) is a citizen of the State of California with
residence in Los Angeles County. During the proposed class period, Plaintiff viewed
Defendants’ advertisements representing the Natural American Spirit cigarettes as “Natural”

and “Additive- Free” and regularly purchased varieties of Natural American Spirit cigarettes in
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California that were all uniformly labeled as “Natural” or “Additive-Free.”

5. Defendant Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. is a New Mexico
corporation whose principal place of business is located at One Plaza La Prensa, Santa Fe, New
Mexico 87507. See generally https://www.sfntc.com/.

6. Defendant Reynolds American Inc. is a North Carolina corporation whose
principal place of business is located at 401 North Main Street, Winston-Salem, North Carolina
27101. Since 2002, Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. has been an operating subsidiary
of Defendant Reynolds American, Inc. See https://www.sfntc.com/site/ourCompany/our-parent-
company/.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) because the
aggregate claims of the Class (as defined below) exceed the sum or value of $5,000,000.00, and
there is minimal diversity of citizenship between Plaintiff and proposed Class members, and
both Defendants.

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they intentionally
avail themselves of the rights and privileges of conducting business in New Mexico and they
have continuous and systematic contacts with the State of New Mexico, owing to Defendants’
advertising targeting New Mexico citizens and sales of their products in New Mexico.
Defendant Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. is a New Mexico corporation that
maintains its principal place of business in Santa Fe, New Mexico.

9. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because
substantial acts in furtherance of the alleged improper conduct giving rise to the claims herein,
including the dissemination of false information regarding Natural American Spirit cigarettes,

occurred within the state of New Mexico including this District.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

10. Defendants sell a variety of Natural American Spirit cigarettes (such as regular,
light, organic and menthol), all of which Defendants uniformly label and advertise with
representations that the cigarettes are “Natural” and “Additive-Free.”  See generally
https://www.sfntc.com/site/our Approach/natural-solutions/.

11. By marketing Natural American Spirit cigarettes as “Natural” and “Additive-
Free,” Defendants represent explicitly and/or implicitly that Natural American Spirit cigarettes
present a lower risk of tobacco-related disease and/or are less harmful than other commercially
marketed tobacco products.

12. The label of Natural American Spirit cigarettes prominently states that the

2

cigarettes are “Natural” and “Additive-Free.” The following photograph is an accurate

representation of the “Light Mellow Taste” product packaging:
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13. Defendants’ Natural American Spirit’s website located at

http://www.nascigs.com also prominently features the “100% Additive-Free Natural Tobacco”

misrepresentation:
[ NON ] i} nascigs.com ¢ th =
100% ADDITIVE-FREE

NATURAL TOBACCO

LOGIN REGISTER STORE LOCATOR
. Register for NASCIGS.com with a Need help finding Natural American
few simple steps and learn more Spirit? Use the store locator to find
. about our 100% Additive-Free our tobacco products at a local store
Natural Tobacco. near you.

CIGARETTES

SURGEON GENERAL'S WARNING: Quitting Smoking Organic tobacco does NOT No additives in our tobacco
Now Greatly Reduces Serious Risks to Your Health. mean a safer cigarette. does NOT mean a safer cigarette.

FAQs | Contact Us | Tobacco Rights | Site Requirements | Age Filtering | Terms of Use | Privacy Policy and Your California Privacy Rights

14. Defendants’ advertising and marketing for Natural American Spirit cigarettes has
contained numerous representations that cigarettes are “Natural” and ‘“Additive-Free,”
throughout the proposed class period. See generally https://www.sfntc.com/site
/ourApproach/natural-solutions/.

15. Defendants’ advertisements for Natural American Spirit cigarettes shows use of
the “Natural” and “Additive-Free” misrepresentations has grown increasingly prominent during
the proposed Class period.! Defendants’ website further features these representations. See

https://www.sfntc.com/site/ourApproach/natural-solutions/ (“Santa Fe Natural Tobacco

! Slideshow: Advertising for Natural American Spirit Cigarettes 2000-2015, Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids,
http://www.tobaccofreekids.org/press_office/2015/natural _american_spirit (last visited November 2, 2015).
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Company is the manufacturer of the finest additive-free and organic tobacco products in the
world. Period. But to have the best finished products, you’ve got to be the best at every stop
along the way — from seed to cigarette.””). Defendants’ website also boasts of its commitment
to quality control standards. See https://www.sfntc.com/site/ourApproach /natural-solutions/
(“Meeting our high standards for quality isn’t easy. And there’s really only one way it can
consistently be done: passionate and committed people. Without our employees’ dedication and
commitment to being the best, we’d be just another tobacco company. SENTC employees take
ownership of their part in the process. They participate in internal audits—not only about tasks
like manufacturing processes—but also about our environmental practices..... ‘Our customers
want the highest quality products,’ she says. ‘And as you can see, so do we!’”).

16. Defendants represent that their products contain only two ingredients, tobacco
and water, and no additives. This is stated on the Product Overview page of their website.
https://www.sfntc.com/site/ourProduct/overview/ (“We at Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company
are the manufacturer and marketer of Natural American Spirit cigarettes and roll-your-own
tobacco products. Natural American Spirit products are made with 100 percent additive-free
tobacco and include thirteen cigarette styles and four roll-your-own style.”... “We make our
cigarettes with 100 percent additive-free tobacco, including styles with 100 percent U.S. grown
tobacco, and with certified organic tobacco. Our blenders create the highest quality tobacco
blends and only use two ingredients: whole leaf tobacco and water.”... “The central concept on
which the company has been built is that consumers of tobacco products have the right to know
exactly what they are consuming.” — Robin Sommers, former president of SENTC”).

17. While consumers understand that smoking cigarettes is generally unhealthy,
Defendants deceive reasonable consumers into believing that cigarettes that are “Natural” and
“Additive-Free” are less unhealthy than other cigarettes. As a result, consumers are willing to
pay a price premium for Natural American Spirit cigarettes as compared to other cigarettes that
are not so labeled, and Defendants do in fact charge a substantial price premium for their

cigarettes.
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18. As Defendants are well aware, consumer research and cigarette industry
documents establish that smokers associate the terms “Natural” and *“Additive-Free” with
reduced risk. Indeed, reasonable consumers buying cigarettes marketed as ‘“Natural” and
“Additive-Free” expect to get a healthier product.”

19. Unfortunately, Natural American Spirit cigarettes are not safer than other
cigarettes. In fact, the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) recently sent a “warning letter” to
Defendants informing them that the use of descriptors like “Natural” and “Additive-Free” lead
consumers to believe that such cigarettes pose less of a health risk than other cigarettes, when
there is no scientific support for such a claim. See FDA Warning Letter to Santa Fe Natural
Tobacco Company, Inc. dated August 27, 2015, available at http://www.fda.gov/
ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2015/ucm459778.htm (last visited March 18, 2016).

In that letter, the FDA stated:

You sell or distribute cigarette products the label, labeling, or advertising of which
represents explicitly and/or implicitly that the products or their smoke do not contain
or are free of a substance and/or that the products present a lower risk of tobacco-
related disease or are less harmful than one or more other commercially marketed
tobacco products. Specifically, you sell or distribute Natural American Spirit
cigarettes described in product labeling as “Natural” and “Additive Free.”

A tobacco product is considered a “modified risk tobacco product” under section
911(b)(2)(A)(1) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k(b)(2)(A)(i)) if its label,
labeling, or advertising explicitly or implicitly represents that: (1) the product
presents a lower risk of tobacco-related disease or is less harmful than one or more
other commercially marketed tobacco products; (2) the product or its smoke contains
a reduced level of a substance or presents a reduced exposure to a substance; or (3)
the product or its smoke does not contain or is free of a substance. Under section
911(a) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k(a)), no person may introduce or deliver
for introduction into interstate commerce any modified risk tobacco product without
an FDA order in effect under section 911(g) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. §
387k(g)). A product that is in violation of section 911(a) of the FD&C Act (21
U.S.C. § 387k(a)) is adulterated under section 902(8) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. §
387b(8)). Your product labeling for Natural American Spirit cigarettes, which uses
the descriptors “Natural” and “Additive Free,” represents explicitly and/or implicitly

2 McDaniel, Patricia A. & Ruth E. Malone, “I Always Thought They Were All Pure Tobacco”: American Smokers’
Perceptions of ‘Natural’ Cigarettes and Tobacco Industry Advertising Strategies, 16 Tobacco Control €7 (2007),
available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pmc/articles/PMC2807204/ (last visited Nov. 2, 2015).
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that the products or their smoke do not contain or are free of a substance and/or that
the products present a lower risk of tobacco-related disease or are less harmful than
one or more other commercially marketed tobacco products. As such, these products
are modified risk tobacco products. Because these products are sold or distributed to
customers in the United States without an appropriate FDA order in effect under
section 911(g) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k(g)), these products are
adulterated under section 902(8) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387b(8)).

FDA recognizes that Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. has entered into a
consent order with the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) regarding the company’s
use of additive free claims in tobacco product advertising (Federal Trade
Commission, In the Matter of Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc., a
corporation, Docket No. C-3952, Decision and Order, Issued June 12, 2000). This
order requires, in part, that the company display certain disclosures (e.g., “No
additives in our tobacco does NOT mean safer”) in any advertisements using claims
that represent tobacco products as having no additives, unless the company possesses
and relies upon competent and reliable scientific evidence demonstrating that such
products pose materially lower health risks than other tobacco products of the same
type. This consent order predates the Tobacco Control Act, which was enacted on
June 22, 2009 and gave FDA authority to regulate the manufacture, sale,
distribution, and promotion of tobacco products, including authority over modified
risk tobacco products under Section 911 of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k). As
noted above, under section 911(a) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k(a)), no
person may introduce or deliver for introduction into interstate commerce any
modified risk tobacco product without an FDA order in effect under section 911(g)
of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k(g)). Because you sell or distribute modified risk
tobacco products without an appropriate FDA order in effect under section 911(g) of
the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. § 387k(g)), you are in violation of the FD&C Act,
notwithstanding your consent order with FTC.

20. According to the advocacy group Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids, the
marketing for Natural American Spirit is the most deceptive of any major U.S. cigarette brand
currently on the market. Defendants’ deceptive marketing of Natural American Spirit cigarettes
has helped the brand increase sales by 86 percent from 2009 to 2014, even as overall cigarette
sales in the United States fell by 17 percent during the same period. See Meyers, Matthew L.,
“FDA Warning About Deceptive Marketing of Natural American Spirit Cigarettes, Other Brands
Is Critically Important to Protect Consumers,” PRNewsire-USNewswire (Aug. 27, 2015),
available at http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/fda-warning-about-deceptive-marketing-
of-natural-american-spirit-cigarettes-other-brands-is-critically-important-to-protect-consumers-

300134309.html (last visited Nov. 2, 2015):
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The Food and Drug Administration today has taken a critically important action to
protect the American public from tobacco industry deception by warning several
manufacturers—most prominently Reynolds American’s subsidiary, Santa Fe
Natural Tobacco Company, and its Natural American Spirit cigarette brand—that
they are violating the law by marketing their products with health-related claims,
including “additive-free” and “natural.” If these products continue to make these
claims, the FDA can and should order them removed from the market.

This is not the first time the government has had to act to prevent the tobacco
industry from using its marketing of the term “additive-free” in ways that mislead
the public and it is a reflection of the length to which the tobacco industry has gone
to undermine the effectiveness of the prior efforts. The FDA’s warning sends a
strong message to the tobacco industry that its long history of deception about the
dangers of tobacco use will no longer be tolerated. It is one of the strongest
enforcement actions the FDA has taken under the landmark 2009 law that gave the
agency authority over tobacco products, including the power to strictly regulate any
health claims.

There is no question that terms such as “additive-free” and “natural” imply a safer
cigarette, as confirmed by consumer research and the industry’s own documents.
Consumers buying goods marketed with such terms expect to get a healthier product.
Studies have found that smokers associate these terms with reduced risk, and a 2007
review of tobacco industry documents showed that tobacco companies have
understood, for decades, that “natural” implies unwarranted health claims. Reynolds
has provided no evidence that Natural American Spirit cigarettes expose smokers to
any fewer toxins or carry any lower risk of disease.

The marketing for Natural American Spirit is the most deceptive of any major U.S.
cigarette brand currently on the market. It has helped the brand increase sales by 86
percent from 2009 to 2014, even as overall cigarette sales in the United States fell by
17 percent during the same period. The FDA today also warned ITG Brands LLC—
which now owns Winston—and Sherman’s 1400 Broadway N.Y.C. Ltd.—which
owns Nat Sherman cigarettes.

While marketing for Natural American Spirit has long featured terms such as “100%
additive-free” and ‘“natural”—and also “organic,” which is also commonly used in
Natural American Spirit marketing—their use has become larger and bolder over
time. These claims are featured more prominently than ever in a new magazine
advertising campaign launched in July (view current and past advertising for Natural
American Spirit).

As a result, these claims overwhelm two legally mandated disclaimers at the bottom
of Natural American Spirit ads that state “No additives in our tobacco does NOT
mean a safer cigarette” and “Organic tobacco does NOT mean a safer cigarette.”
These disclaimers were added to resolve deceptive advertising complaints made by
the Federal Trade Commission in 2000 and state attorneys general in 2010.
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Reynolds’ ever-bolder use of these claims, even after facing legal action, shows that
the company has not changed despite its frequent claims to be “transforming
tobacco” for the better.

The FDA took action under a key provision of the 2009 law that prohibits tobacco
companies from making health claims without premarket FDA review and an FDA
order allowing the claim. This provision prohibits implicit or explicit claims that a
tobacco product is less harmful than other tobacco products (called “modified risk”
claims) unless the manufacturer provides the FDA with scientific evidence to
support such a claim and demonstrates that allowing the claim will benefit public
health. This provision is intended to end the tobacco industry’s long record of
deception about the health risks of its products, most prominently in the marketing of
“light” and “low-tar” cigarettes as safer when in fact they were no less hazardous
than other cigarettes.

In response to the new advertising campaign for Natural American Spirit, the
Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids and 27 other public health organizations earlier
this week wrote to the FDA urging action to stop the brand’s claims implying a safer
cigarette. Given the timing of the FDA’s action, it is clear that the FDA both
initiated its investigation and made the decision to take action even before receipt of
this letter.

21. Defendants themselves concede that just because Natural American Spirit
cigarettes are ‘“natural” and do not have additives does not render them safer than other
cigarettes. Placed on the side of Natural American Spirit packages, in a location reasonable
consumers would likely overlook or not expect to have to view in order to determine the
truthfulness of a statement made on the front of the label, is the following admission: “No
additives in our tobacco does NOT mean a safer cigarette.” However, Defendants’ deceptive
marketing claims overwhelm their disclaimers.

22.  Moreover, Natural American Spirit cigarettes are also not “natural,” because they
contain ammonia. Researchers at the Oregon Health and Science University looked at 11 U.S.
cigarette brands and found that some had up to 20 times more freebase nicotine—a form of the
drug that is quickly absorbed and transmitted to the brain and central nervous system. Natural
American Spirit cigarettes, for example, had 36% freebase nicotine, compared to 1% in a
benchmark cigarette, 2.7% in Camel, 5-6.2% in Winston, and 9.6% in Marlboro. Natural

nicotine is not typically this potent; on information and belief, the high level of freebase

10
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nicotine in Natural American Spirit cigarettes is achieved through the addition of ammonia.
See generally http://www.ohsu.edu/xd/about/news_events/news/2003/07-24-ohsu-researcher-
publishe.ctfm. (“Since scientists have shown that a drug becomes more addictive when it is
delivered to the brain more rapidly,” the author continued, “free-base nicotine levels in cigarette
smoke thus are at the heart of the controversy regarding the tobacco industry’s use of additives
like ammonia and urea, as well as blending choices in cigarette design.” ... The study found a
wide range of free-base nicotine levels among other brands such as Camel, Winston, Doral,
GPC, Kamel Red, Virginia Slims, American Spirit and the French brand Gauloises.”).

23. Defendants’ use of the term “natural” to describe their products is false,
deceptive, and misleading because they contain ammonia. The Consumer Reports National
Research Center recently conducted a national survey of over 1,000 American consumers
asking what percentage believe “natural” means or should mean no artificial ingredients are
used. Although the survey was related to food, the results are likewise informative here. The
survey findings revealed that 66% of consumers believe the “natural” label means no artificial
ingredients are used. And 86% of consumers believe the “natural” label should mean that no
artificial ingredients are used. See FDA Request for Public Comment, 80 FR 69905, available at
http://federalregister.gov/a/2015-28779.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

24, Plaintiff brings this action on her own behalf on behalf of all others similarly
situated and additionally, pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
25. All requirements for class certification under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 (a) and 23(b)(2)
and 23(b)(3) are satisfied.
26. The Class that Plaintiff seeks to represent is defined as:
All persons who purchased Natural American Spirit cigarettes in California from

March 22, 2012 to the present.

11
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217. Excluded from the Class are Defendants; any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate of
Defendants; any entity in which Defendants have or had a controlling interest, or which
Defendants otherwise control or controlled; any officer, director, employee, legal representative,
predecessor, successor, or assignee of Defendants; any counsel of record in this case and any of
their employees; any judge that is appointed to preside over this case, as well as any court
employees.

28. The class is sufficiently numerous. Plaintiff does not know the exact number of
persons in the Class, but believes them to be in the several thousands, making joinder of all these
actions impracticable. The identity of the individual members is ascertainable and public notice
can be provided.

29. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact
involved affecting the members of The Class. The questions of law and fact common to the Class
predominate over questions affecting only individual class members, and include, but are not
limited to, the following:

a.  whether Defendants engaged in deceptive acts or practices by marketing
Natural American Spirit cigarettes as “Natural” and “Additive-Free;”

b. whether Defendant’s practices are “unfair” as defined by California
Business and Professions Code §17200;

c.  whether Defendant’s practices are “unlawful” as defined by California
Business and Professions Code §17200;

d.  whether Defendant’s practices are “fraudulent” as defined by California
Business and Professions Code §17200;

e.  whether the above-described practice violates California Business and
Professions Code §17200;

f.  whether Defendants violated California Bus. & Prof. Code §17500 ef seq.;

g.  whether Defendants violated the California Legal Remedies Act, California

Civil Code § 1770 et seq.;

12
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h.  whether Defendants were unjustly enriched at the expense of the Class; and
1.  whether members of the Classes are entitled to declaratory relief.
30. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the Class.
31. Plaintiff has retained the undersigned counsel who are experienced in consumer
class action litigation and are competent to represent the Class.
32. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class which all arise from the

same operative facts involving Defendants’ practices.

33. A class action is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of this
controversy.
34. Classwide damages are essential to induce Defendants to comply with the federal

and state laws alleged in the Complaint.

35. Class members are unlikely to prosecute such claims on an individual basis since
the individual damages are small. Management of these claims is likely to present significantly
fewer difficulties than those presented in many class claims, e.g., securities fraud.

36. Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the Class thereby
making appropriate final declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole.

37. Members of the Class are likely to unaware of their rights.

38. Plaintiffs request certification of a hybrid class combining the elements of Fed. R.

Civ. P. 23(b)(3) for monetary damages and Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) for equitable relief.

INTENT
39. All acts of Defendants described within were done intentionally and purposefully

with a goal towards maximizing their profits and gain, at the expense of Plaintiff and the Class.

13
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF CONSUMERS LEGAL REMEDIES ACT
CIVIL CODE § 1750, ET SEQ.

(Against All Defendants)

40. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the above paragraphs of this Complaint
as though fully stated herein.

41. This cause of action is brought pursuant to the Consumers Legal Remedies Act,
California Civil Code § 1750 et seq. (the “CLRA”) because Defendants’ actions and conduct
described herein constitute transactions that have resulted in the sale or lease of goods or services
to consumers.

42. Plaintiff and each member of the Class are consumers as defined by California
Civil Code § 1761(d).

43. The Natural American Spirit cigarettes purchased by Plaintiff and the Class are
goods and services within the meaning of Civil Code § 1761(a).

44. Based on the foregoing, Defendants violated the CLRA in at least the following
respects:

a. in violation of §1770(a)(5), Defendants represented that the Natural American
Spirit cigarettes had characteristics, ingredients, and benefits which they do not have;

b. in violation of §1770(a)(7), Defendants represented that the Natural American
Spirit cigarettes are of a particular standard, quality, or grade when they are of another;

C. in violation of §1770(a)(9), Defendants have advertised Natural American Spirit
cigarettes with intent not to sell them as advertised; and

d. in violation of §1770(a)(16), Defendants represented that Natural American Spirit
cigarettes were supplied in accordance with previous representations, when they were not.

45, Defendants knew, or should have known, that their representations and

advertisements were deceptive, false and misleading.

14
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46. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ deceptive, misleading and false
advertising, Plaintiff and the other Class members have suffered injury in fact and have lost
money or property based on either the purchase price of Natural American Spirit cigarettes or the
price premium Defendants are able to charge, and that Plaintiff and the Class pay.

47. Damages on this Count alone are not sought at this time, only injunctive and
declaratory relief and all other relief available at law or equity. Absent injunctive relief,
Defendants will continue to deceptively market their cigarettes.

48. Plaintiff has complied with Civil Code § 1782(a) by notifying Defendants in
writing, by certified mail, of the violations alleged herein and demanded that Defendants remedy
those violations with respect to the entire Class.

49. If Defendants fail to rectify or agree to rectify the problems detailed above and
give notice to all affected consumers within 30 days of the date of written notice pursuant to
California Civil Code § 1782. Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to add claims for actual,

punitive, and statutory damages pursuant to the CLRA.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE §17200

(Against All Defendants)

50. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the above paragraphs of this Complaint
as though fully stated herein.

51. As described more fully above, Defendants falsely and materially misrepresented
their cigarettes as “Natural” and “Additive-Free” when, in fact, the Natural American Spirit
cigarettes are not healthier than other cigarettes.

52. Actions for relief under the unfair competition law may be based on any business
act or practice that is within the broad definition of the UCL. Such violations of the UCL occur

as a result of unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business acts and practices.

15
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53. California Business & Professions Code § 17200 prohibits any “unfair ... business
act or practice.”

54. In order to satisfy the “unfair” prong of the UCL, a consumer must show that the
injury: (1) is substantial; (2) is not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or
competition; and (3) is not one that consumers themselves could reasonably have avoided.

55. Defendants’ representations made by statement, word, design, device, sound, or
any combination thereof, and also the extent to which the Defendants’ advertising fails to reveal
material facts with respect to Natural American Spirit cigarettes, as described above, constitute
false advertising and unlawful, unfair and fraudulent conduct. Defendants’ conduct was knowing
and intentional. Defendants’ actions have caused direct, foreseeable, and proximate injury to
Plaintiff and the Class

56. Defendants’ acts, omissions, misrepresentations, and practices as alleged herein
constitute “unfair” business acts and practices within the meaning of the UCL in that its conduct
is substantially injurious to consumers, offends public policy, and is immoral, unethical,
oppressive, and unscrupulous as the gravity of the conduct outweighs any alleged benefits
attributable to such conduct. There were reasonably available alternatives to further Defendants’
legitimate business interests, other than the conduct described herein.

57. Here, Defendants’ conduct have caused and continues to cause substantial injury
to Plaintiff and members of the Class. Plaintiff and members of the Class have suffered injury in
fact due to Defendants’ conduct.

58. Moreover, Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein solely benefits Defendants
while providing no benefit of any kind to any consumer. Such deception utilized by Defendants
convinced Plaintiff and members of the Class that the money paid for the Natural American
Spirit cigarettes was a reasonable fair market value, when in fact, Defendants knew that they
were selling an inferior product. Thus, the injury suffered by Plaintiff and the members of the

Class is not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers.

16
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59. Finally, the injury suffered by Plaintiff and members of the Class is not an injury
that these consumers could reasonably have avoided.

60. Based on the foregoing, Defendants’ conduct has violated the “unfair” prong of
California Business & Professions Code § 17200.

61. California Business & Professions Code § 17200 also prohibits any “fraudulent ...
business act or practice.”

62. In order to prevail under the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL, a consumer must
allege that the fraudulent business practice was likely to deceive members of the public. The test
for “fraud” as contemplated by California Business and Professions Code § 17200 is whether the
public is likely to be deceived. Unlike common law fraud, a § 17200 violation can be established
even if no one was actually deceived, relied upon the fraudulent practice, or sustained any
damage.

63. Here, Plaintiff and the Class members were actually deceived by Defendants’
conduct described above. The facts at issue would have been material to any reasonably minded
consumer, including Plaintiff, in their determination of whether to purchase Natural American
Spirit cigarettes, and at what price. Plaintiff’s reliance upon Defendants’ deceptive statements
and omissions is reasonable due to the unequal bargaining powers and knowledge of Defendants
and Plaintiff. For the same reason, it is likely that Defendants’ fraudulent business practices
would deceive other members of the public.

64. Based on the foregoing, Defendants’ conduct has violated the “fraudulent” prong
of California Business & Professions Code § 17200.

65. California Business and Professions Code § 17200 et seq. prohibits ‘“any
unlawful ... business act or practice.”

66. As explained above, Defendants’ conduct was unlawful. See FDA Warning. In
addition, Defendants’ conduct is unlawful in that it violates the Consumers Legal Remedies Act,

California Civil Code §§ 1750 et seq., as described in the First Cause of Action above.
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67. These representations and omissions by Defendants are therefore an “unlawful”
business practice or act under Business and Professions Code § 17200 ef seq.

68. Defendants used false advertising, marketing, and misrepresentations to induce
Plaintiff and Class members to purchase the Natural American Spirit cigarettes. Had Defendants
not falsely advertised, marketed, or misrepresented their products, Plaintiff and Class members
would not have purchased the Natural American Spirit cigarettes. Defendants’ conduct therefore
caused and continues to cause economic harm to Plaintiff and Class members.

69. As a consequence of Defendants’ wrongful actions, Plaintiff and the other
members of the Class suffered an ascertainable loss of monies based on either the purchase price
of Natural American Spirit cigarettes or the price premium Defendants are able to charge, and
that Plaintiff and the Class pay, as a direct result of Defendants’ deceptive marketing scheme.

70. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff and the other
members for restitution, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees, and the costs of this suit.

71. Plaintiff and the other members of the Class further seek to enjoin the false

advertising described above.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
MONEY HAD AND RECEIVED

(Against All Defendants)

72. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above.

73. Plaintiff and members of the Class conferred benefits on Defendants by
purchasing Natural American Spirit cigarettes at a premium price.

74. Defendants have knowledge of such benefits.

75. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants have unjustly enriched
themselves and received a benefit at the expense of Plaintiff and the other members of the Class.
Defendants appreciated the benefit and it would be inequitable for Defendants to retain this
benefit because Defendants falsely and materially misrepresented as “Natural” and “Additive-

Free” when, in fact, the Natural American Spirit cigarettes are not healthier than other cigarettes.
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Plaintiff and members of the Class were unjustly deprived of payments because they would not
have purchased (or paid a price premium) for Natural American Spirit cigarettes had the true
facts been known.

76. Because it would be unjust and inequitable for Defendants to retain payments
Plaintiff and the Class made for Defendants’ Natural American Spirit cigarettes or to retain the
price premium they charge for their cigarettes, Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to
restitution for Defendants’ unjust enrichment.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the Class members pray for judgment as follows:

A. Certifying the Class as requested herein pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 (a), 23 (b)(2)
and 23 (b)(3);

B. Restitution of the funds obtained by Defendants from the Class, directly or
indirectly;

C. Disgorgement of the funds obtained by Defendants from the Class, directly or
indirectly;

D. Any and all damages on the claims in which damages are now sought and allowable
by law or equity other than those specifically disclaimed above relating to the
CLRA;

E. All reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees and costs provided by statute, common
law, equity, or the Court’s inherent power;

F.  For equitable and declaratory relief; and,

G. Any and all other relief that this Court deems just and proper at law or equity.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands trial by jury of all claims so triable.
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Dated: March 23, 2016

LONG, KOMER & ASSOCIATES, PA

/s/ Nancy R. Long

Nancy R. Long

2200 Brothers Road

PO Box 5098

Santa Fe, NM 87502
(505) 982-8405
nancy@longkomer.com
vmarco@longkomer.com
email@longkomer.com

ZIMMERMAN REED, LLP

Hart L. Robinovitch (pro hac vice to be filed)
14646 N. Kierland Blvd., Suite 145
Scottsdale, AZ 85254

(800) 493-2827

hart.robinovitch@zimmreed.com

June Pineda Hoidal (pro hac vice to be filed)
1100 IDS Center

80 South 8th Street

Minneapolis, MN 55402

(612) 341-0400
june.hoidal@zimmreed.com

Caleb Marker (pro hac vice to be filed)
2381 Rosecrans Avenue, Suite 328
Manhattan Beach, CA 90254

(877) 500-8780
caleb.marker@zimmreed.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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AFFIDAVIT OF CALEB MARKER

I, Caleb Marker, declare as follows:

1. I am an attorney with the law firm of Zimmerman Reed LLP. I am admitted to
practice law in California and am a member in good standing of the State Bar of California.

2. This declaration is made pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1780(d).

3. I make this declaration based on my research of public records and upon personal
knowledge and, if called upon to do so, could and would testify competently thereto.

4. Based on my research and personal knowledge, Defendants Reynolds American,
Inc. and Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc. (“Defendants”) conduct business within the
State of New Mexico and this District and Defendant Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Company, Inc.
maintains its principal office in Santa Fe, New Mexico and this District, as alleged in the Class

Action Complaint.

I declare under penalty of perjury on this 23rd day of March, 2016 in Los Angeles,

California that the foregoing is true and correct.

/s/ Caleb Marker
Caleb Marker
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